Simon

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Robert A. Brown and Susana Brown, Guardians Ad Litem for KI and KA, minors, Robert A. Brown, individually, and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

٧.

MAR 10 2010

Stewart Mortensen,

Defendant and Respondent.

Appellants' Petition For Review

After Appeal in the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division One, Case No. B199793, from the Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles, The Honorable, Anthony Mohr, Judge Presiding Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC289546

Summary of Appeal						
<u>Issue Presented</u>						
Does 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2 of the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act						
("FCRA"), which requires that information furnished to a credit						
reporting agency be accurate, preempt California's Confidentiality of						
Medical Information Act, Civ. Code §§56 et. seq. ("CMIA"), which						
prohibits disclosure, in the absence of patient consent, of confidential						
medical information to credit reporting agencies without regard to						
accuracy?						
3						
Importance of Issue Presented						
Argument						
A. California's Confidentiality of Medical Information Act is not						
preempted by 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2.						
Conclusion and Word Count						

Table of Authorities

<u>Cases</u>
Sanai v. Saltz (2009)170 Cal.App.4th 746
<u>Statutes</u>
15 U.S.C. §1681
15 U.S.C. §1681s-2 passim
15 U.S.C. §1681t
15 U.S.C. §1681t(b)(1)(F) 4-8
5 U.S.C. §1681t(b)(1)(E)
Civ. Code §56 passim
Civ. Code §56.10(c)(3)
Civ. Code §56.11
Civ. Code §56.13
Civ. Code §1785.13(f)

Petition

TO THE HONORABLE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA: Appellants hereby petition for review of the decision of the Court of Appeal in the above entitled case filed on January 29, 2010. A copy of said decision is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

Summary of Appeal

Petitioners appealed to the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate

District, Division One, from an order of dismissal in the Los Angeles

Superior Court after the trial court sustained a demurrer to petitioners' 3rd

and 4th Causes of Action in a Fourth Amended Complaint. Petitioners

alleged that respondent Stewart Mortensen ("Mortensen") violated

California's Confidentiality of Medical Information Act, California Civil

Code §§56 et. seq. ("CMIA") by disclosing petitioners' confidential medical information to credit reporting agencies without petitioners' consent.

Petitioners sought damages and injunctive relief.

The CMIA defines "medical information" as "medical history, mental or physical condition, or treatment" and includes "identifying information" such as name, address, telephone number and social security number. Civ. Code §56.05(g), formerly Civ. Code §56.05(f).

Civil Code §§56.10(a), 56.11 and 56.13 prohibit health care providers and their recipients from disclosing confidential medical information without the patient's consent. *The CMIA does not include an exception for reporting to credit reporting agencies.* Although a health care provider is authorized under the CMIA to disclose confidential medical information to an "administrator" or to a "billing agent," the CMIA expressly prohibits the administrator or billing agent from making any "further disclosure" of the patient's confidential medical information. Civ. Code §56.10(c)(3).

In its published Opinion, the Court of Appeal concluded that the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. §§1681 et. seq. ("FCRA"), preempts the CMIA; the Court of Appeal then interpreted §1681s-2 of the FCRA, which requires that information furnished to a credit reporting agency be *accurate*, to mean that a patient cannot sue under the CMIA for disclosure of confidential medical information to a credit reporting agency, even if the patient never consented to such disclosure in the first instance.

Petitioners timely petitioned for rehearing in the Court of Appeal, which was denied on February 19, 2010.

Under Rule 8.500(b)(1), California Rules of Court, the Supreme

Court should order review of the decision of the Court of Appeal in this

case to settle an important question of law.

Issue Presented

Does 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2 of the federal FCRA, which requires that information furnished to a credit reporting agency be accurate, preempt California's CMIA, which prohibits disclosure, in the absence of patient consent, of confidential medical information to credit reporting agencies without regard to accuracy?

The above question of law is an issue of first impression.

Importance of Issue Presented

The Court of Appeal's published Opinion answers the above question of law in the affirmative. The Court of Appeal's decision is important because, if it stands, then anyone under contract with a credit reporting agency as a furnisher of information has carte blanche authority to fully disclose in a consumer credit report information about a consumer which is privileged under California's state confidentiality laws, e.g. patient-physician, attorney-client, employer-employee, bank-customer and on and on. The decision of the Court of Appeal exposes tens of millions of records of information, which are presently protected and privileged from disclosure under California's confidentiality laws for patients, consumers, clients, borrowers, customers and others, to disclosure in such persons' credit reports. Since nothing in 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2 makes such a

sweeping grant of authority of disclosure in the first instance, it is necessary for the Supreme Court to grant review and reverse.

Argument

In support of its conclusion that the federal FCRA preempts
California's CMIA, the Court of Appeal relied on 15 U.S.C.
§1681t(b)(1)(F), which is based exclusively on 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2.

15 U.S.C. §1681s-2 places statutory responsibility on furnishers of information to consumer credit reporting agencies that such information be *accurate*. The subsections of 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2 provide as follows:

- 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2(a) places responsibility on furnishers of information to provide "accurate information."
- 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2(b) places responsibility on furnishers of information when a consumer disputes the accuracy of the information.
- 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2(c) and (d), as written prior to

 December 4, 2003, displace private court action against the furnisher of information in favor of court action by government.
- 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2(e), enacted December 4, 2003, is outside the period alleged in appellants' 4th Amended Complaint and is, therefore, irrelevant to the present case.

Petitioners contend that preemption under 15 U.S.C. §1681t(b)(1)(F), which is based exclusively on 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2, is not relevant to the issue of liability for violation of the CMIA, Civil Code §§56 et. seq.

Violation of the CMIA does not depend upon whether or not a disclosure is accurate. Liability depends upon unauthorized, non-consented disclosure in the first instance, regardless of the accuracy of such disclosure. Nothing in the CMIA is "preempted" by 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2 because nothing in §1681s-2 authorizes disclosure of information in the first instance.

A. <u>California's Confidentiality of Medical Information Act is not preempted by the 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2.</u>

The general rule is that the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. §1681 et. seq., "FCRA," does not preempt state law. 15 U.S.C. §1681t(a) provides:

"1681t(a) In general

Except as provided in subsections (b) and © of this section, this subchapter does not annul, alter, affect, or exempt any person subject to the provisions of this subchapter from complying with the laws of any State with respect to the collection, distribution, or use of any information on

consumers, or for the prevention or mitigation of identity theft, except to the extent that those laws are inconsistent with any provision of this subchapter, and then only to the extent of the inconsistency.

The Court of Appeal's published Opinion in this case relies on 15 U.S.C. §1681t(b)(1)(F), which in turn relies exclusively on 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2, in support of a conclusion that 15 U.S.C. §1681t(a) does not apply in this case. 15 U.S.C. §1681t(b)(1)(F) provides:

"1681t(b) General exceptions

No requirement or prohibition may be imposed under the laws of any State -

- (1) with respect to any subject matter regulated under -
- (F) section 1681s-2 of this title, relating to the responsibilities of persons who furnish information to consumer reporting agencies . . . "
- 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2 places statutory responsibility on furnishers of information to consumer credit reporting agencies that such information be

accurate. 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2(a) places responsibility on furnishers of information to provide "accurate information." 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2(b) places responsibility on furnishers of information when a consumer disputes the accuracy of the information. 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2(c) and (d), as written prior to December 4, 2003, displace private court action against the furnisher of information in favor of court action by government. 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2(e), enacted December 4, 2003, is outside the period alleged in appellants' 4th Amended Complaint and is, therefore, irrelevant to the present case.

Preemption under 15 U.S.C. §1681t(b)(1)(F), which is based exclusively on 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2, is not relevant to the issue of liability for violation of California's Confidentiality of Medical Information Act, Civil Code §§56 et. seq., the "CMIA." Violation of the CMIA does not depend upon whether or not a disclosure is accurate. Liability depends upon unauthorized disclosure in the first instance, regardless of the accuracy of such disclosure. Nothing in the CMIA is "preempted" by 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2 because nothing in §1681s-2 authorizes disclosure of information in the first instance.

In <u>Sanai v. Saltz</u> (2009)170 Cal.App.4th 746, the Court of Appeal said:

"[T]he enforcement scheme of Congress under [15 U.S.C.] § 1681s-2(d) . . . concerns only violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a) -- the duty to provide accurate information -- not all possible claims against furnishers of consumer credit information." Id. at 777.

The relevant preemption provision in the FCRA as it relates to the present case is not 15 U.S.C. §1681t(b)(1)(F). <u>The relevant preemption</u>

provision in the FCRA which does apply to the present case is 15 U.S.C.

§1681t(b)(1)(E), which provides as follows:

"1681t(b) General exceptions

No requirement or prohibition may be imposed under the laws of any State -

(1) with respect to any subject matter regulated under -

(E) section 1681c of this title, relating to information contained in consumer reports, except that this subparagraph shall not apply to any

State law in effect on September 30, 1996;"

(emphasis added).

15 U.S.C. §1681c(a) prohibits disclosure of certain information in a consumer credit report in the first instance, regardless of whether or not the information is accurate. Under 15 U.S.C. §1681t(b)(1)(E), 15 U.S.C. §1681c(a) preempts state laws, but only those laws enacted after September 30, 1996. The CMIA was enacted in 1981 and is, therefore, not preempted. The CMIA statutes, California Civil Code §§56.10(c)(3), 56.11, 56.13, prohibit disclosure of confidential medical information obtained from a health care provider, regardless of whether the disclosure is accurate. So, 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2 is irrelevant.

Another California law, also in existence on September 30, 1996, is California Civil Code §1785.13, which somewhat tracks 15 U.S.C. §1681c. Like the CMIA, Civil Code §1785.13 also prohibits disclosure of confidential medical information, regardless of whether or not the information is accurate:

"1785.13(f) Consumer credit reporting agencies shall not include medical information in their files on consumers or furnish medical information for

employment or credit purposes in a consumer credit report without the consent of the consumer."

Civil Code §56 et. seq. and §1785.13(f) were in effect on September 30, 1996; both prohibit disclosure of a person's medical information, and both, therefore, are not preempted under the FCRA pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1681t(a) and §1681t(b)(1)(E). The Court of Appeal in Sanai concluded:

"Exempting specific state statutes from preemption is very unusual in federal statutes. To suppose Congress would do so for little or no purpose -- as would be the case if the private cause of action under California law were preempted -- is simply not plausible." Sanai v. Saltz, supra,170 Cal.App.4th 746, 779.

Petitioners alleged, in their 3rd Cause of Action, 4th Amended Complaint, that defendant, Mortensen, commencing about June 12, 2001 and continuing through August 2003, disclosed confidential medical information about petitioners' minors, KI and KA, in "consumer credit reports" under a written agreement with national credit reporting agencies. (C.T. 623-625, 4th Am. Complaint, ¶70). Petitioners alleged, in their 4th Cause of Action, 4th Amended Complaint, that, also during the foregoing

dates, Mortensen disclosed confidential medical information about petitioner, R. Brown, in "consumer credit reports" under a written agreement with national credit reporting agencies. (C.T. 630-632, 4th Am. Complaint, ¶99). Petitioners alleged that such disclosures were never consented and not authorized. <u>Ibid</u> at C.T. 625 (lines 8-9) and 632 (lines 7-9). Petitioners have a cause of action under the CMIA, whether or not Mortensen accurately disclosed such information.

The above allegations place petitioners' causes of action squarely within 15 U.S.C. §1681c, and, therefore, squarely within the federal preemption exception under 15 U.S.C. §1681t(b)(1)(E). California's CMIA statutes, Civil Code §§56.10(c)(3), 56.11, 56.13, prohibit <u>any</u> disclosure of confidential medical information obtained from a health care provider and, therefore, <u>any</u> disclosure of confidential medical information in a consumer credit report, regardless of whether the disclosure is accurate.

Under 15 U.S.C. §1681t(b)(1)(E), the FCRA does not preempt state laws enacted prior to or on September 30, 1996 which prohibit certain information from being disclosed in a consumer credit report in the first instance. The CMIA is not inconsistent with 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2 because the latter does not *authorize* disclosure; it only regulates the *accuracy* of disclosure.

If the published Opinion of the Court of Appeal in this case stands, then anyone under contract with a credit reporting agency as a furnisher of information has carte blanche authority to fully disclose in a consumer credit report information about a consumer which is privileged under California's state confidentiality laws, e.g. patient-physician, attorneyclient, employer-employee, bank-customer and on and on. The decision of the Court of Appeal exposes tens of millions of records of information, which are presently protected and privileged from disclosure under California's confidentiality laws for patients, consumers, clients, borrowers, customers and others, to disclosure in such persons' credit reports. Since nothing in 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2 makes such a sweeping grant of authority of disclosure in the first instance, it is necessary for the Supreme Court to grant review and reverse.

Conclusion

Petitioners' petition for review should be granted.