IN THE SUPREME SUPREME COURT COPY

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Robert A. Brown and Susana Brown, et al. Plaintiffs and Appellants, v.	SUPREME COURT FILED
Stewart Mortensen, etc.) APR - 1 2010 (8.25(b)
Defendant and Respondent.	Frederick K. Onirich Clerk
) Deputy

After A Decision By The Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division One, Case No. B199793, from the Superior Court of California

For the County of Los Angeles, The Honorable Anthony J. Mohr, Judge Presiding Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC 289546

Respondent Stewart Mortensen's Answer to Appellants' Petition for Review

David J. Kaminski (SBN 128509)
kaminskid@cmtlaw.com
Stephen A. Watkins (SBN 205175)

INTRODUCTION

Appellants' Petition for Review seeks for this Court to review a decision holding that Appellants' Third and Fourth Causes of Action alleging Respondent violated the California *Confidential Medical Information Act* ("CMIA") (*Cal. Civ. Code* §56 *et seq.*) by reporting alleged inaccurate information to the credit bureaus [hereinafter the "CMIA claims"], are preempted pursuant to Section 15 U.S.C. 1681t(b)(1)(F) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. 1681 *et seq.* ("FCRA").

As acknowledged by Appellants' own Petition, it is well settled that Section 1681t(b)(1)(F) preempts claims relating to the furnishing of inaccurate information (Petition, pg. 6-7.) However, Appellants' Petition now asks the Supreme Court to consider the hypothetical question that if Appellants had alleged that their CMIA claims were based on the reporting of accurate information to the credit reporting agencies, would such claims still be preempted. In an attempt to create

an "important question of law" in their Petition, Appellants completely omit any mention of the fact that the Court of Appeal clearly recognized that Appellants' CMIA claims in their Fourth Amended Complaint alleged that Respondent furnished *inaccurate and incomplete information* to the credit reporting agencies, as shown below.

Appellants and Plaintiffs Robert A. Brown, Susana Brown and their children, KI and KA, allegedly incurred bills for dental services provided by Dr. Rolf Reinholds. Subsequently, the bills were assigned for collection to Respondent/Defendant Stewart Mortensen ("Respondent"). Appellants filed suit against Respondent and other defendants, claiming Respondent wrongly disclosed Appellants KI and KA's confidential medical information to the credit reporting bureaus in pursuit of a false debt alleged to be owed by Appellant Robert Brown. [Court Transcript ("CT") 000624] Appellants also asserted that Respondent reported the allegedly false debt to the credit reporting bureaus. [CT 000617]

Respondent was successful in demurring to causes of action in the original complaint and four subsequent amended complaints. The demurrer to the Fourth Amended Complaint was sustained as to the

Third and Fourth causes of action, the only causes of action at issue on appeal and in Appellants' Petition.

The Court of Appeal's opinion upheld the sustaining of the demurrer to the CMIA claims, holding that Section 1681t(b)(1)(F) of the FCRA preempted Appellants' Third and Fourth Causes of Action alleging violations of the CMIA. The Court of Appeal took note that Appellants repeatedly stated in their CMIA claims that Respondent furnished "inaccurate and incomplete" information to the credit bureaus. (Court's Opinion, attached to Petition, pgs. 3, 8)

In light of the foregoing, Appellants' Petition does *not* assert an important question of law and it is unsupported by the facts. There is no need to address whether a hypothetical CMIA claim based on allegations that accurate information was furnished to the credit bureaus is preempted by the FCRA, because Appellants' CMIA claims as plead in their Fourth Amended Complaint only allege that Respondent furnished *incomplete and inaccurate* information to the credit bureaus. For this reason, Appellants' Petition should be denied.

<u>II.</u>

LEGAL DISCUSSION

A. There Are No Grounds For Supreme Court Review

Appellants assert that review should be granted pursuant to Rule 8.500(b)(1), California Rule of Court, to settle an important question of law. (Appellant's Petition, pg. 2) However, there is no question of law to settle. Both Appellants and Respondent agree that the FCRA preempts conduct relating to the furnishing of inaccurate and incomplete information to the credit reporting bureaus. (Petition, pgs. 6-7) The Court of Appeal held that Appellants' CMIA claims asserted that Respondent allegedly reported "inaccurate and incomplete" information to the credit reporting bureaus (Opinion, pgs. 3, 8), and held that such claims were preempted by the FCRA.

As shown below, the Court of Appeal's decision was in line with clearly established law, and there is no reason to address a hypothetical scenario not presented by Appellants' Fourth Amended Complaint—i.e., that if Appellants had alleged a CMIA claim based on accurate information reported by Respondent to the credit bureaus, would such CMIA claims would be preempted by the FCRA.

B. The Court of Appeal's Decision, Does Not, Contrary to Appellants' Assertion, Establish a New Legal Principle

The Court of Appeal preempted Appellants' Third and Fourth Causes of Action under the CMIA pursuant to Section 1681t(b)(1)(F) of the FCRA. Appellants argue that the Court of Appeal's ruling was invalid because 1681t(b)(1)(F) allegedly only preempts conduct relating to the furnishing of "inaccurate" information to credit bureaus (Petition, pgs.6-7), whereas Appellants claim that liability under the CMIA is not dependent on whether the medical information allegedly reported was accurate, and therefore not preempted.

Section 1681t(b)(1)(F) provides in pertinent part:

- "(b) General exceptions. No requirement or prohibition may be imposed under the laws of any State--
 - (1) with respect to any subject matter regulated under--
- (F) section 623 [15 USCS § 1681s-2], relating to the responsibilities of persons who furnish information to consumer reporting agencies, except that this paragraph shall not apply. . .."

15 U.S.C. 1681t(b)(1)(F)(emphasis added).

Appellants assert that Section 1681s-2 only relates to the duties of furnishers with respect to the accuracy of reported information, and therefore, Section 1681t(b)(1)(F) only preempts state law causes of action relating to the accuracy of information reported to the credit bureaus.

Based on the foregoing, Appellants argue that their case presents an "important" issue of whether the FCRA preempts a CMIA claim that does not relate to the furnishing of inaccurate information to the credit bureaus. (Petition, pg. 3)

However, this Court does not need to decide this issue, because the Court of Appeal has already held that Appellants' Third and Fourth Causes of Action concern allegations that Respondent reported *inaccurate and incomplete information* to the credit reporting agencies (Opinion, pgs. 3, 8). Therefore, as per Appellants' *own* arguments in their Petition (Petition, pg. 6-7), such allegations are clearly within the purview of conduct that is preempted by Section 1681t(b)(1)(F), and therefore the Court of Appeal's decision was proper, as shown below.

///

111

1. The FCRA Preempts State Statutory Causes of Action Such as Those Stated In Appellants' Fourth Amended Complaint

The Court of Appeal's decision recognized the significant authority holding the broad reach of Section 1681t(b)(1)(F) preemption. As noted by the Court of Appeal, "[W]hile furnishers may be liable to private litigants under 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(b) based on the information they provide to credit agencies, [citation], *it appears that Congress intended the FCRA to be the sole remedy against these furnishers.*" (Court's Opinion, pg. 9, emphasis added, citing *Howard v. Blue Ridge Bank*, 371 F. Supp.2d 1139, 1143 (N.D. Cal. 2005)).

The Court of Appeal also acknowledged that the Northern District of California in *Howard* noted that "Congress intended the FCRA to preempt state laws regarding the duties of furnishers and the remedies available against them, rather than allowing different liabilities for furnishers depending on the state of suit." (*Id.* at p. 1144, cited in Court's Opinion at pg. 9.)

Further supporting preemption, the Court of Appeal noted that "To allow causes of action under state statutes that do not specifically refer to credit reporting, but to bar those that do, would defy the Congressional rationale for the elimination of state causes of action." (Opinion at pg. 8, citing *Jaramillo v. Experian Information Solutions, Inc.* (E.D.Pa. 2001) 155 F.Supp.2d 356, 362 [finding FCRA preempts state Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law].)

The Court of Appeal cited other decisions in the Ninth Circuit whereby the FCRA preempted other state statutory claims under Business & Professions Code Section 17200, the Rosenthal California Fair Debt Collection Practices Act ("Rosenthal Act") (Civ. Code § 1788) et seg.), and the Consumer Legal Remedies Act (Civ. Code § 1750 et seq.). (Opinion, pgs. 8-9, citing Pirouzian v. SLM Corp. (S.D.Cal. 2005) 396 F. Supp. 2d 1124, 1130 (holding that FCRA preempted the Rosenthal Act); Roybal v. Equifax (E.D.Cal. 2005) 405 F.Supp.2d 1177(holding that FCRA preempted Section 17200, Rosenthal Act and Consumer Legal Remedies Act claims). See also Davis v. Md. Bank, N.A., 2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26468 (N.D. Cal. June 18, 2002) ("the FCRA preempts both state statutory and common law causes of action which fall within the conduct proscribed under section 1681s-2(1)").

Finally, the Court of Appeal acknowledged a recent decision by Division Seven of the Second Appellate District which held that a plaintiff's state common law causes of action for slander, libel, intentional and negligent interference with prospective economic advantage, intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress, based on the furnishing of information to the credit bureaus, were preempted by the FCRA. (Opinion, pg. 10, citing *Sanai v. Saltz* (2009) 170 Cal. App. 4th 746, 773 (holding "1681t(b)(1)(F) 'totally preempts' all state common law tort claims against furnishers of credit information arising from conduct regulated by 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2".)

2. Appellants' CMIA Claims Were Based on Respondent Purportedly Reporting Inaccurate and Incomplete Information to the Credit Reporting Bureaus

Appellants' Fourth Amended Complaint states that the information allegedly reported by Respondent was "inaccurate and incomplete." [(FAC, ¶39), CT 000617] The Court of Appeal noted that the reported information at issue in this case was alleged to be inaccurate and incomplete, stating in pertinent part:

"Soon after [Respondent's] conversation with

[Appellant Brown], and continuing for a period of approximately two years, [Respondent] used and disclosed the dental charts, including the confidential medical information contained in them, to three consumer credit reporting agencies . . . Mr. Brown also wrote to the credit reporting agencies, explaining that the information they had received was *inaccurate and incomplete*."

(Opinion, pg. 3)(emphasis added).

After purportedly reporting this "inaccurate and incomplete" information, Appellants claimed that Respondent was asked to verify the information it had reported to the credit reporting agencies. The Court of Appeal noted the following:

"[T]he credit reporting agencies contacted [Respondent] for verification of [Appellant's] alleged debt. [Respondent] then provided to the credit reporting agencies [Appellant] Mr. Brown's dental history and payments to the dentists for the past 10 years. [Appellant] Mr. Brown claimed that detailed history was not only unnecessary to the alleged debt collection, but was also inaccurate."

(Opinion, pg. 3)(emphasis added).

The Court of Appeal clearly seized on the fact that Appellants'
CMIA causes of action were based on the reporting of *inaccurate and incomplete* information to the credit reporting bureaus, and therefore these causes of action were properly preempted.

3. Appellants' Petition Ignores the Fact That FCRA Preemption is Based on the Substance of Appellants' Allegations, Not the Form

In a desperate attempt to save their CMIA claims, Appellants assert that because a hypothetical claim under the CMIA might only involve the reporting of accurate and complete information, the Court of Appeal's decision in this case was improper. However, this reasoning fails.

The Court of Appeal held that Appellants alleged that Respondent improperly furnished "inaccurate and incomplete information" to the credit reporting bureaus in their CMIA claims. The Court of Appeal correctly held that Appellants' CMIA claims were preempted by Section 1681t(b)(1)(F), which preempts conduct relating to the furnishing of such information to the credit bureaus

Appellants have cited no authority for the proposition that FCRA preemption under Section 1681t(b)(1)(F) does not follow the substance of the claim. In fact it is the opposite-regardless of the name assigned to the cause of action, it if relates to the furnishing of inaccurate information to the credit bureaus, it is preempted by the FCRA. See, e.g., Howard, supra (court rejected the plaintiff's argument that the FCRA) did not preempt his Business & Professions Code Section 17200 claim because section 17200 is not inconsistent with the FCRA, but merely provides an additional state remedy for the conduct giving rise to the FCRA claim); Roybal, supra (preempting Rosenthal Act, CLRA and Section 17200 claims); Sanai, supra (preempting state law claims for slander, libel, intentional and negligent interference with prospective economic advantage, intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress, under Section 1681t(b)(1)(F)).

Reinforcing the above, the Court of Appeal stated in pertinent part:

"In light of these cases and our reading of section 1681t(b)(1)(F), we conclude the FCRA preempts the Browns' third and fourth causes of action. Although the

CMIA does not regulate consumer reporting, when CMIA claims such as those at issue here relate to the subject matter regulated under section 1681s-2... those claims are preempted by the FCRA. (15 U.S.C. § 1681t(b)(1)(F).)"

(Opinion, pgs. 10-11)(emphasis added).

The conduct alleged in Appellants' CMIA claims in their Fourth Amended Complaint—the furnishing of inaccurate and incomplete information to the credit reporting bureaus—is conduct that is directly addressed by the FCRA. Therefore it is preempted as a matter of law.

III.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellants' Petition should be denied.